2002

LKL Associates, Inc. v. Janet Heidt, et al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Supreme Court of Utah has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to UTAH CODE ANNOTATED § 78-2-2(3)(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

1. **Issue:** Whether the district court erred in concluding that an individual unit in a ten-unit condominium building constitutes a “residence” as that term is defined in UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-11-102(20).

 a. **Standard of Review:** Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed for correctness. *Bearden v. Croft*, 2001 UT 76, ¶ 5, 31 P.3d 537.

 b. **Record Citation:** This issue was raised in Superior Insulation Co., Inc.’s Objection to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Proposed Judgment and Order on Defendants Janet Heidt, Guy G. Berryessa, Curt G. Hood, and Jennifer C. Smith’s Motions for Summary Judgment (Record on Appeal [hereafter “R.”] 429-30), Superior Insulation Co., Inc.’s memoranda in opposition to the unit owners’ motions for summary judgment (R. 478-79, 511-12), and at oral argument on the unit owners’ Motion for Summary Judgment. (Transcript of Hearing on Motions, February 4, 2002 [hereafter “Tr.”] 675-76, 690-92.)

2. **Issue:** Whether the district court erred in concluding that the provisions of the Condominium Ownership Act mandate that a unit in a ten-unit condominium building be considered a “residence” under UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-11-102(20).

a. **Standard of Review:** Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed for correctness. *Bearden*, 2001 UT 76 at ¶ 5.

b. **Record Citation:** This issue was raised at oral argument on the unit owners’ Motions for Summary Judgment. (Tr. 675-76, 690-92.)

DETERMINATIVE LEGAL PROVISIONS

The relevant issues are governed by UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-11-102(20), a section contained in the Utah Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act, and UTAH CODE ANN. § 57-8-19(1), § 57-8-27, and § 57-8-35, sections contained in the Utah Condominium Ownership Act. These statutory provisions are set forth in full in the Addendum (hereafter, “Add.”) at 26.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

CraCar Construction Company (“CraCar”) was hired by Bear Hollow Village, LLC to act as the general contractor for the Bear Hollow Village Subdivision project (the “Project”) in Park City, Utah. CraCar hired various subcontractors to work on the Project. Bear Hollow Village, LLC failed to pay CraCar for a substantial portion of the

work performed on the Project, and, as a result, CraCar was unable to pay its subcontractors for the work they performed. CraCar and its subcontractors recorded mechanic's liens against the Project. Despite its failure to pay CraCar, Bear Hollow Village, LLC sold a number of condominium units to individual purchasers.

II. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

LKL Associates, Inc. ("LKL") filed an action which included a claim to foreclose mechanic's liens against certain condominium lots within the Project. LKL named as defendants the individual owners of the condominium units and other contractors who had recorded mechanic's liens against the units. Two defendants, Superior Plumbing and Heating, Inc. and Superior Insulation Co., Inc., filed counterclaims, cross-claims, and third party complaints against unit owners and other lien claimants. Superior Plumbing and Superior Insulation, who were CraCar's subcontractors on the Project, named CraCar as a defendant in their third-party complaints.

Each of the owners of the condominium units (Janet Heidt, Guy G. Berryessa, Curt G. Hood, Jennifer C. Smith, and Ann M. Farley [hereafter, "Unit Owners"]) submitted a completed Answer, Affidavit, and Motion for Summary Judgment form which UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-11(4)(a) requires mechanic's lien claimants to serve along with the summons and complaint in a mechanic's lien foreclosure action. The Unit Owners sought summary judgment based upon the defenses provided by the Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act (the "Lien Restriction Act"). Several

contractor parties objected to the motions for summary judgment because each condominium unit in question was part of a ten-unit condominium building. The Lien Restriction Act applies only if a property is a “residence” which the Lien Restriction Act defines as a “detached single-family dwelling or multifamily dwelling up to two units” UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-11-102(20). The owners did not dispute that their condominium units were housed in a building containing ten attached units.

III. DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

After a hearing on the owners’ motions for summary judgment, the trial court ruled that each condominium unit constituted a “residence” under the Lien Restriction Act and that the lien claimant parties were required to remove their mechanic’s liens and dismiss their claims against the owners. The court further directed that the judgments be entered as final judgments pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. CraCar appeals the trial court’s ruling.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

CraCar entered into a contract with a developer, Bear Hollow Village, LLC, to act as the general contractor for the Project. CraCar retained subcontractors to provide work on certain condominium units in the Project. (R. 102, 193.) Without paying CraCar for its work, Bear Hollow Village, LLC sold a number of the condominium units in the Project to the Unit Owners. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on Home Owners’ Motions for Summary Judgment [hereafter, “First Findings”], Addendum

[“Add.”] 2-4; Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on Ann M. Farley’s Motion for Summary Judgment [hereafter, “Second Findings”], Add. 10-12 .) CraCar and its subcontractors filed mechanic’s liens against the Project to secure payment for the work they had performed. (R. 104-07, 198-200.) Some of CraCar’s subcontractors initiated a lien foreclosure action against the Unit Owners and named CraCar as a party to the action. (R. at 104-07, 198-200.). The Unit Owners filed motions for summary judgment based upon the Lien Restriction Act. (R. 131,163, 203, 227 & 400.) CraCar and its subcontractors objected to the motions on the basis that the protections of the Lien Restriction Act are only extended to owners of “residences” and that the Lien Restriction Act defines a “residence” as “a primary or secondary detached single-family dwelling or multifamily dwelling up to two units.” (R. 429-30, 478-79, 511-12; Tr. 675-76, 690-92.) Because the Unit Owners owned condominium units housed in buildings containing ten attached units, CraCar and its subcontractors argued that the Lien Restriction Act’s protections were not available to the Unit Owners. (Tr. 675-76, 690-92.)

After oral argument on the Unit Owners’ motions for summary judgment, the trial court granted the Unit Owners’ motions for summary judgment. (Add. 1-27.) In support of its ruling, the trial court concluded that: (1) “so long as an owner of a residential unit in a condominium building does not own more than two units, that owner qualifies for the protection afforded by the [Act]”; (2) “the conclusion that each of the condominium units described in the foregoing Findings of Fact qualifies as a ‘residence’ is mandated

by the provisions of the Condominium Ownership Act, Utah Code Ann. § 57-8-1, et seq.”; and (3) “[i]f the definition of residence were to be construed as excluding condominium units, the statute may be unconstitutional under the equal protection provision of the Utah Constitution, Article I, § 24.” (First Findings, Add. 4-6, Second Findings, Add. 16-19.)

Because one of the Unit Owners (Ann M. Farley) was inadvertently omitted from the first Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law and the first Judgment and Order, an additional Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and an additional Judgment and Order were entered by the trial court to extend the relief granted to the other Unit Owners to Ms. Farley. (Second Findings, Add. 14-21; Add. 22-27.) The Findings, Judgment, and Order pertaining to Ms. Farley were identical to those entered for the other Unit Owners. Although CraCar filed a separate Notice of Appeal relating to the Findings, Judgment, and Order pertaining to Ms. Farley, the legal issues are the same as those relating to the Findings, Judgment, and Order pertaining to the other Unit Owners. CraCar requests that the appeal of the Findings, Judgment, and Order relating to Ms. Farley be consolidated with the appeal of the Findings, Judgment, and Order relating to the other Unit Owners.

CraCar now appeals the trial court’s Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the Judgments and Orders pertaining to the Unit Owners.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Lien Restriction Act provides certain owners of residences protection from mechanic's liens. The term "residence" is defined by the Lien Restriction Act as a "detached single-family dwelling or multifamily dwelling up to two units" Because each of the Unit Owners in the present case own a unit in a condominium building housing ten units, the plain language of the statute indicates that the Unit Owners are not entitled to the protections of the Lien Restriction Act.

The provisions of Utah's Condominium Ownership Act do not alter the Lien Restriction Act's definition of "residence." Because there is no conflict between the Utah Condominium Ownership Act and the Lien Restriction Act, the two enactments coexist without one prevailing over the other.

Although the trial court stated in dicta that the Lien Restriction Act "may" be unconstitutional, the constitutional argument was never properly presented to the trial court, and the trial court did not rely on this argument in entering its ruling.

ARGUMENT

I. OWNERS OF UNITS IN MULTIFAMILY DWELLINGS HOUSING MORE THAN TWO UNITS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO THE PROTECTIONS OF THE LIEN RESTRICTION ACT

A. The Lien Restriction Act Applies to “Residences” Only

The trial court’s ruling defied the plain language of the Lien Restriction Act. The Lien Restriction Act explicitly provides that its protections against mechanic’s liens are limited to owners of “residences”:

A person qualified to file a lien upon an owner-occupied *residence* and the real property associated with that *residence* . . . ***shall be barred . . . from maintaining a lien upon that residence*** and real property or recovering a judgment in any civil action against the owner or the owner-occupied *residence* to recover monies owed for qualified services provided by that person if [certain enumerated conditions are met].

UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-11-107(1) (emphasis added). The Lien Restriction Act does not purport to bar mechanic’s liens against improvements which are not “residences.” Only those who are deemed “owners” under the Lien Restriction Act and who comply with the necessary provisions may compel the removal of the mechanic’s lien:

A lien claimant who files a mechanics’ lien or foreclosure action upon an owner-occupied residence is not liable for costs and attorneys’ fees under Sections 38-1-17 and 38-1-18 or for any damages arising from a civil action related to the lien filing or foreclosure action if the lien claimant removes the lien ***within ten days from the date the owner establishes compliance***, through written findings of fact from a court of competent jurisdiction or, in cases where a bankruptcy has been filed, from the director, with the requirements of Subsections 38-11-204(3)(a) and (3)(b).

UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-11-107(3). The Lien Restriction Act defines an “owner” as one who contracts with a real estate developer or a licensed contractor to purchase a “residence” upon completion of construction or one who buys a completed “residence” from a real estate developer. UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-11-102(15). Clearly, the relief awarded by the trial court to the Unit Owners can only be awarded under the Lien Restriction Act to owners of “residences.”

B. The Lien Restriction Act Defines “Residence” as Dwellings With No More Than Two Units

The Lien Restriction Act defines “residence” as follows:

“Residence” means an improvement to real property used or occupied, to be used or occupied as, or in conjunction with, a primary or secondary detached single-family dwelling or multifamily dwelling up to two units, including factory built housing.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-11-102(20). There are several elements to this definition. First, a residence must be some type of improvement to real property. Second, the improvement must be intended for use or occupation as (or in conjunction with) a primary or secondary dwelling. Third, the dwelling must be either a “detached single-family dwelling” or a “multifamily dwelling up to two units.” This third element — whether the dwelling is either a detached single-family dwelling or a multifamily dwelling with no more than two units — is the critical issue presented in this appeal.

C. A Condominium Unit in a Building Containing Ten Units Does Not Constitute a “Residence”

The Unit Owners in the present case reside in units in the Calgary Condominium complex within the Project. The Calgary Condominium complex consists of two buildings, each of which contains ten separate condominium units. (First Findings, Add. 4; Second Findings, Add. 16.) Because the units owned by the Unit Owners are contained within multifamily dwellings with more than two units, the Unit Owners are not entitled to the protections of the Lien Restriction Act. Any contrary conclusion defies the plain language of the Lien Restriction Act.

The trial court concluded that the definition of residence “focuses on the character of the ownership of the residence” and that “so long as an owner of a residential unit in a condominium building does not own more than two units, that owner qualifies for the protection afforded by the statute.” (First Findings, Add. 4; Second Findings, Add. 16.) These conclusions are entirely unsupported by the text of the Lien Restriction Act. Section 38-11-102(2) does not contain the words “own,” “owner,” or “ownership.” It is difficult to understand how the trial court could conclude that this provision “focuses on the character of ownership of the residence.” It is equally puzzling that the trial court construed the words “a . . . multifamily dwelling up to two units” to mean “a dwelling with any number of units so long as the homeowner in question owns no more than two units within that dwelling.”

The rules promulgated for the implementation of the Lien Restriction Act require the creation of a form for use by homeowners which “shall be an answer, affidavit, and motion for summary judgment that is clearly written and easy to understand.” UTAH ADMIN. CODE R156-38-109. Lien claimants are required by statute to serve a blank copy of the form upon each homeowner along with the summons and complaint. UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-11(4). The answer, affidavit, and motion for summary judgment form created by the Lien Recovery Fund, which was completed and filed by each of the Unit Owners, includes the following sentence to be filled in by the homeowner:

() I am the owner of a residence, which has an address of _____, located in the city or county of _____, Utah, which is *a single family or duplex residence*.

(R. 131,163, 203, 227 (emphasis added.)) It is interesting to note that the form does not request whether the affiant owns more than one unit in the dwelling in question. The language of the form indicates that the Lien Recovery Fund considers any multifamily dwelling larger than a duplex to be ineligible for the protections of the Lien Restriction Act.

II. THE CONDOMINIUM OWNERSHIP ACT DOES NOT TRANSFORM LARGE MULTIFAMILY BUILDINGS INTO “RESIDENCES”

The trial court also ruled that the Utah Condominium Ownership Act mandates the conclusion that “each of the condominium units [at issue] qualifies as a ‘residence’” (First Findings, Add. 5; Second Findings, Add. 17.) Specifically, the

trial court relied upon three sections of the Condominium Ownership Act in reaching this conclusion: Section 57-8-19(1) regarding liens against condominium units; Section 57-8-27 regarding separate taxation of condominium units; and Section 57-8-35 regarding the integration of other laws with the Condominium Ownership Act. (First Findings, Add. 4; Second Findings, Add. 16.) Because none of these sections provides a basis for altering the plain language of the Lien Restriction Act, the trial court erred in applying the Lien Restriction Act’s protections to units in a ten-unit condominium.

A. Section 57-18-19(1) Does Not Alter the Lien Restriction Act’s Definition of “Residence”

The Condominium Ownership Act provides that liens may be created against condominium units in the same manner that liens are created against other real property:

[W]hile the property remains subject to this act, . . . liens or encumbrances shall arise or be created only against each unit and the percentage of undivided interest in the common areas and facilities appurtenant to such unit in the same manner and under the same conditions in every respect as liens or encumbrances may arise or be created upon or against any other separate parcel of real property subject to individual ownership.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 57-8-19(1). The trial court apparently concluded that this provision served to transform condominium units into “separate parcel[s] of real property” which are considered detached for purposes of the Lien Restriction Act. To the contrary, this provision simply clarifies that condominium units are susceptible to the same liens and encumbrances which arise against non-condominium properties. Nothing in this section states that condominium units are “separate parcel[s] of real property” — the section

simply states that the procedures for creating a lien against separate parcels of real property are valid to create liens against condominium units.

B. Section 57-8-27 Does Not Convert Condominium Units Into Detached Dwellings

The Condominium Ownership Act provides that each condominium unit is subject to separate taxation:

Each unit and its percentage of undivided interest in the common areas and facilities shall be considered to be a parcel and shall be subject to separate assessment and taxation by each assessing unit and special district for all types of taxes authorized by law, including ad valorem levies and special assessments. Neither the building or buildings, the property, nor any of the common areas and facilities may be considered a parcel.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 57-8-27(1). However, nothing in this section suggests that a ten-unit condominium building should be deemed a “detached single-family dwelling” or a “multifamily dwelling up to two units” for purposes of the Lien Restriction Act.

C. The Application of the Condominium Ownership Act Does Not Conflict With the Lien Restriction Act

The Condominium Ownership Act contains provisions regarding the relationship between its provisions and other laws:

The provisions of this chapter shall be in addition to and supplemental to all other provisions of law, statutory or judicially declared, provided that wherever the application of the provisions of this chapter conflict with the application of such other provisions, this chapter shall prevail: provided further, for purposes of Sections 10-9-805, 10-9-811, and 17-27-804 and provisions of similar import and any law or ordinance adopted pursuant thereto, a condominium project shall be considered to be a subdivision, and a record of survey map or supplement thereto prepared pursuant to this

chapter shall be considered to be a subdivision map or plat, only with respect to:

(a) such real property or improvements, if any, as are intended to be dedicated to the use of the public in connection with the creation of the condominium project or portion thereof concerned; and

(b) those units, if any, included in the condominium project or portion thereof concerned which are not contained in existing or proposed buildings.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 57-8-35(1). In short, if the Condominium Ownership Act conflicts with other provisions of law, the Condominium Ownership Act prevails. If there is no conflict, the Condominium Ownership act is “in addition to and supplemental to all other provisions of law.” The trial court apparently concluded that there was a conflict between the Condominium Ownership Act and the Lien Restriction Act and that the former prevailed. In fact, there is no conflict between the Condominium Ownership Act and the Lien Restriction Act.

The trial court did not specify any provision of the Condominium Ownership Act which allegedly conflicted with the Lien Restriction Act. In fact, the Condominium Ownership Act explicitly states that condominium units are not treated differently for purposes of the creation of liens: “liens or encumbrances. . . shall . . . be created . . . against each unit . . . *in the same manner and under the same conditions in every respect* as liens . . . upon any other separate parcel of real property” UTAH CODE ANN. § 57-8-19(1) (emphasis added). No fictions or artificial devices must be

entertained to create liens against condominium units. There is no need to call a ten-plex a duplex. Instead, the provisions of the Condominium Ownership Act are “in addition to and supplemental to” the Lien Restriction Act and create no conflict. The plain language of the Lien Restriction Act applies against condominium units and non-condominium units alike.

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