2002

LKL Associates, Inc. v. Janet Heidt : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

1. Applicable Rules of Statutory Interpretation.

It is well-established that "the primary rule of statutory interpretation is to give effect to the intent of the legislature in light of the purpose the statute was meant to achieve." Reeves v. Gentile, 813 P.2d 111, 115 (Utah 1991). Further, "the plain language of a statute is to be read as a whole, and its provisions interpreted in harmony with other provisions in the same statute and with other statutes under the same and related chapters." Lyon v. Burton, 2000 UT 19, ¶ 17 (quoting Roberts v. Erickson, 851 P.2d 643, 644 (Utah 1993) (citations omitted)). Remedial statutes are to be given a liberal construction to achieve their obvious and intended purposes. See, e.g., P.I.E. Employees Fed. Credit Union v. Bass, 759 P.2d 1144, 1151 (Utah 1988); Heaton v. Second Injury Fund, 758 P.2d 957, 961 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). Statutes are to be interpreted reasonably and sensibly and in a way that avoids an absurd result. See e.g., Russell v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc., 842 P.2d 896, 906 (Utah 1992); State v. GAF Corp., 760 P.2d 310, 313 (Utah 1988) ("It is axiomatic that a statute

should be given a reasonable and sensible construction and that the legislature did not intend an absurd result").

2. The Utah Residence Lien and Lien Restriction Recovery Fund Act.

The Residence Lien Restriction and Lien Recovery Fund Act was adopted by the Utah Legislature to protect innocent home purchasers from mechanic's liens asserted by unpaid contractors and suppliers. Utah Code Ann. § 38-11-107(1) (2001) entitled "Restrictions Upon Maintaining a Lien Against Residence or Owner's Interest in the Residence," provides as follows:

(1) A person qualified to file a lien upon an owner-occupied residence and the real property associated with that residence under the provisions of Title 38, Chapter 1, Mechanics' Liens, who provides qualified services under an agreement effective on or after January 1, 1995, other than directly with the owner, shall be barred after January 1, 1995, from maintaining a lien upon that residence and real property or recovering a judgment in any civil action against the owner or the owner-occupied residence to recover monies owed for qualified services provided by that person if:

(a) the conditions described in Subsections 38-11-204(3)(a) and (3)(b) are met;

Id. § 38-11-107(1) (emphasis added). The conditions described in subsections 38-11-204(3)(a) and (3)(b) require that the owner of the owner-occupied residence enter into a written contract with a licensed contractor or with a real estate developer for the purchase of an owner-occupied residence; and that the owner pay in full the licensed contractor or real estate developer. See id. § 38-11-204(3).

Under the foregoing provisions, a contractor who provides labor or material used in the construction of an "owner-occupied residence" cannot claim a mechanic's lien against the residence or recover a civil judgment against the owner if these conditions have been satisfied. Upon proof that the conditions have been satisfied and the entry of findings of

compliance by the court, the contractor or supplier is entitled to file a claim against the residence lien recovery fund funded by contractor licensing fees and administered by the Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing under the Utah Department of Commerce. See id. §§ 38-11-201 to –204.³

The Act defines an "owner-occupied residence" as a residence that will be occupied by the owner or the owner's tenant "as a primary or secondary residence within 180 days from the date of the completion of the construction on the residence." Utah Code Ann. § 38-11-102(16). The act goes on to define a "residence" as,

An improvement to real property used or occupied, to be used or occupied as, or in conjunction with, a primary or secondary detached single-family dwelling or multifamily dwelling up to two units, including factory built housing.

Id. § 38-11-102(20). Consistent with the long-standing rules of statutory and construction, this definition must be construed to give effect to the legislative intent of protecting innocent home purchasers.

B. Judge Hilder Correctly Interpreted the Lien Restriction Act's Definition of "Residence" to Include Individually Owned Residential Condominium Units.

Judge Hilder construed the Lien Restriction Act's definition of "residence" broadly to give effect to the obvious legislative intent of protecting innocent home purchasers from mechanic's liens. Judge Hilder's conclusion is both consistent with the language and

³It is interesting to note that Superior Plumbing and Heating, Inc. and Superior Insulation Company, Inc., both subcontractors of CraCar, did not appeal Judge Hilder's ruling and are free to pursue their claims against the residence lien recovery fund. This appeal was brought by CraCar, the general contractor who failed to pay its subcontractors. Obviously, CraCar would rather have its subcontractors paid by the innocent home owners, who have already paid once for their condominiums, than the residence lien recovery fund since CraCar would then be obligated to reimburse the fund under Utah Code Ann. § 38-11-207 or face the immediate suspension of its contractor's license under that section.

purpose of the Lien Restriction Act and is mandated by Utah's Condominium Ownership Act (the "Condominium Act").

1. The Definition of "Residence" Focuses on the Character of Ownership.

Judge Hilder correctly ruled that the Lien Restriction Act's definition of "residence" "focuses on the character of the ownership of the residence" to fulfill its obvious remedial purpose. [R. 615, 651.] By so ruling, Judge Hilder observed that the definitions of the terms "residence" and "owner-occupied residence" address how the property in question is actually used by its owner, i.e., is it to be used or occupied by the owner or its tenant as a primary or secondary residence.

CraCar argues for a narrow interpretation of "residence" by misconstruing the words "detached single-family dwelling or multifamily dwelling up to two units" as excluding individually owned condominium units. The Lien Restriction Act does not define what is meant by a "single-family dwelling" or how and from what such a dwelling must be detached. The Lien Restriction Act likewise does not define what is meant by a "multifamily dwelling up to two units." CraCar's interpretation places awkward emphasis on these phrases and asks the court to look at them in isolation of any other part of the Lien Restriction Act. Doing so would require the court to render meaningless the parts of the definitions of "residence" and "owner-occupied residence" that reference the use of the property in question and would create the absurd result that condominiums with two units are protected but condominiums of greater-sized units are not (not to mention the absurdity that condominium owners are unnecessarily excluded from a remedial statutory provision, despite owning property with all other indicia and attributes as other property owners that do enjoy the protections of the Act). By recognizing that the definition focuses on the

character of ownership and not just physical detachment, Judge Hilder logically concluded that a separately owned single-family condominium unit is protected just like the owner of a single-family home. [R. 615, 651]

CraCar argues that the Act's definitions do not focus on ownership character, but are solely dependent on physical detachment. According to CraCar, Judge Hilder should have construed the words "detached single-family dwelling" to refer only to the physical relationship of the unit to surrounding units. That argument incorrectly assumes that a condominium unit is not physically detached from adjacent units and does not allow for the possibility that "detached" could refer to ownership instead of a physical relationship.⁴ More importantly, CraCar's argument violates the rules of construction that required Judge Hilder to interpret the language consistent with the intent of the statute.

2 Individually Owned Condominium Units Must Be Treated As Real Property Entirely Independent of All Other Units Under the Plain Language of the Condominium Ownership Act

Judge Hilder's ruling properly takes into consideration several provisions of the Condominium Act, thus adhering to the requirement that the Lien Restriction Act be read as a whole and in harmony with related statutes (in pari materia) which, in this case, includes the Condominium Act.

⁴Condominium owners, by nature of the ownership discussed below, own in fee simple all of the internal parts of their unit, including the interior walls only. As such, condominium ownership is more "detached" than traditional lots, which touch at the property lines. Condominium owners' exclusively owned property boundaries, as delineated by declaration, condominium and record of survey, see Utah Code Ann. §§ 57-8-10, -13 (2000), do not similarly touch each other. The Condominium Act defines each separately owned "unit" as "a separate physical part of the property intended for any type of independent use." Id. § 57-8-3(26).

As recognized by Judge Hilder, the Condominium Act requires that individually owned condominium units be treated as real property separate and distinct from all other units. The Condominium Act specifically provides that:

Each [condominium] unit, together with its undivided interest in the common areas and facilities, shall, for all purposes, constitute real property and may be individually conveyed, leased and encumbered and may be inherited or devised by will and be subject to all types of juridic acts inter vivos or mortis causa as if it were sole and entirely independent of all other units, and the separate units shall have the same incidents as real property, and the corresponding individual titles and interests therein shall be recordable.

Utah Code Ann. § 57-8-4 (2000) (emphasis added). Each condominium unit is delineated in three dimensions by a record of survey map recorded with a declaration of condominium, id. § 57-8-13, and includes only the physical space within the walls of the unit, id. § 57-8-3(26) (defining "unit" as "a separate physical part of the property intended for any type of independent use."); see Country Oaks Condominium Management Comm. v. Jones, 851 P.2d 640, 642 (Utah 1993) (recognizing that for a condominium unit to exist, it must be in an enclosed space). Thus, it is clear that a condominium unit must be treated as a separate parcel of real property (or "detached" under the terminology of the Lien Restriction Act) independent of other units.

CraCar glosses over the provisions of the Condominium Act that would be rendered meaningless by its proposed interpretation of the Lien Restriction Act. For example, CraCar discards § 57-8-19 as a section that "simply clarifies that condominium units are susceptible to the same liens and encumbrances which arise against non-condominium properties." [See appellant's brief at p. 12.] Such argument gives little credence to the language that condominium liens are to be created "in the same manner and under the

same conditions in every respect as liens or encumbrances may arise or be created upon or against any other separate parcel of real property subject to individual ownership"

(emphasis added). Interpreting the Lien Restriction Act as CraCar argues of course would create a separate body of mechanic's lien law relative to condominiums in direct contravention of this language of sameness.

Judge Hilder's ruling also correctly identifies as support for his interpretation that an individually owned condominium unit is a detached single-family dwelling. Judge Hilder's ruling cites to the separate taxation of each unit, Utah Code Ann. § 57-8-27. Similarly, each condominium unit may be rented or owned jointly or in other tenancies, id., § 57-8-5; ownership is transferred via deed, just like other separately owned real property, id., § 57-8-11; and condominium ownership interests are recorded with a unique legal reference, just like traditional single-family homes, see, id., §§ 57-8-12, 57-8-14.

Judge Hilder's ruling also correctly relies upon the explicit admonition of Utah Code Ann. § 57-8-35 that,

this chapter shall be in addition and supplemental to all other provisions of law, statutory or judicially declared, provided that wherever the application of the provisions of this chapter conflict with the application of such other provisions, this chapter shall prevail.

Id. § 57-8-35 (emphasis added). Because of this provision, CraCar strains to find harmony between the Condominium Act and CraCar's narrow reading of the definition of "residence" in the Lien Restriction Act. In reality, CraCar's interpretation conflicts with the express language of the Condominium Act, §§ 57-8-4 ("entirely independent of all other units"), 57-8-19 ("separate parcel of real property" and liens same in every respect as liens on other forms of lienable property). In short, the Condominium Act goes to great lengths

to make clear that ownership of such property is in all ways equivalent to ownership of any other residence. This Court should, therefore, affirm Judge Hilder's conclusion that the clear provisions of the Condominium Act mandate that individually owned residential condominiums qualify for protection against mechanic's liens the same as any other single-family residence.

C. Judge Hilder's Construction of the Lien Restriction Act to Protect All Home Owners Avoids a Constitutional Equal Protection Problem.

Judge Hilder interpreted the Lien Protection Act in a way that avoids a constitutional equal protection problem. CraCar's assertion that the "constitutional argument was not properly raised before the trial court" [see appellant's brief at p. 16] completely misses this point. The Home Owners did not argue before the trial court that the statute is unconstitutional.⁵ Consequently, there was no requirement to serve a copy of a pleading on the Attorney General under Utah Code Ann. § 78-33-11, which only applies where a statute "is alleged to be invalid." Rather, the Home Owners argued that Judge Hilder should apply the rule of construction that where two possible interpretations of a statute can be made, the constitutional construction should be adopted. [R. 688-89.] See Mountain States Telephone & Telegraph v. Payne, 782 P.2d 464 (Utah 1989). Judge Hilder correctly concluded that "if the Lien Protection Act's definition of 'residence' were to be construed as excluding condominium units, the statute may be unconstitutional under the equal protection clause of the Utah Constitution, Article 1, § 24." [R. 617, 652-653.]

⁵Procedurally, Judge Hilder decided the appellees' summary judgment motions on the basis of statutory interpretation. The doctrine of constitutional avoidance is a canon of statutory interpretation. Were the Court to grant CraCar's requested relief, the case would be remanded so that the constitutional equal protection argument could be briefed.

Article I, § 24 of the Utah Constitution states: "All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation." The Utah Supreme Court has held that the essence of this constitutional provision is "the settled concern of the law that the legislature be restrained from the fundamentally unfair practice of classifying persons in such a manner that those who are similarly situated with respect to the purpose of the law are treated differently by the law, to the detriment of some of those so classified." Gallivan v. Walker, 2002 UT 89 ¶ 36 (quoting Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Utah v. State, 779 P.2d 634, 637 (Utah 1989)). Rather than holding the Lien Restriction Act unconstitutional for classifying and protecting only the purchasers of traditional single-family homes from mechanic's liens and excluding purchasers of single-family condominiums from this protection, Judge Hilder properly construed the definition of residence to be inclusive.

The constitutional avoidance rule of construction was, in fact, raised below and applied by the trial court as "good basic law." [R. 692.] Consequently, the doctrine can certainly be considered by the appellate court. Moreover, this Court is allowed to consider any argument that supports the ruling below. "Indeed, it is well established that an appellate court may affirm the judgment appealed from if it is sustainable on any legal ground or theory apparent on the record, even though such ground or theory differs from that stated by the trial court to be the basis of its ruling or action, and this is true even though such ground or theory is not urged on appeal by appellee, was not raised in the lower court, and was not considered or passed on by the lower court." First Equity Fed., Inc. v. Phillips Dev., LC, 2002 UT 56, at ¶ 11, 52 P.3d 1137, 1139 (Utah 2002). This Court, like Judge Hilder, can and should consider the constitutional ramifications of the decision CraCar seeks. Such measured consideration shows the absurdity and oddity of

CraCar's proposed interpretation and gives this Court additional reason to affirm Judge Hilder's ruling.